FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/1/2020 1:59 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98699-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON No. 98669-1

ON APPEAL FROM THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I No. 79874-0-I

FACEBOOK INC, RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER KING, J.D. A/K/A KINGCAST, PETITIONER

Amended PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER KING, J.D. ATTORNEY PRO SE

239 Olympic Avenue North Arlington, Washington 98223 617.543.8085 m 206.299.9333 f

A. IDENTITY OF PETIONER

Petitioner is Washington resident Christopher King, J.D., a/k/a "KingCast" as alter ego. He is a Writers' Guild screenwriter and independent investigative journalist who has worked for daily and weekly press. He has also won Civil Rights jury trials as a practicing Attorney. He has maintained several blogs since 2005 and he brought the underlying litigation against Respondent Facebook because, up until recently, Facebook had a penchant for removing his posts whenever he complained that someone in society or Facebook was treating him or other blacks on the platform "like niggers" because of Civil Rights abuse. Such removals are contrary to Facebook's own stated policies and they allow whites to refer to themselves as "cracker trash" even when they are not complaining about Civil Rights abuse.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals Decisions of 27 April and 29 May (Denying Reconsideration)
Follow at Appendix A.

C. INTRODUCTION AND ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Put simply, Facebook is a global corporate behemoth currently under investigation by 47 State Attorneys General: https://www.cnn.com/2019/10/22/tech/facebook-antitrust-investigation/index.html. Facebook is so toxic to the World that its founding partner Chris Hughes publicly stated in a NYTimes Op-Ed that Facebook is "a threat to our Democracy" and recommended that it must be split:

https://www.nytimes.com/2019/05/09/opinion/sunday/chris-hughes-facebook-zuckerberg.html

Facebook has an adhesion clause in a clickwrap user agreement that mandates cases be heard in California. King challenged this clause in the Lower Court as Facebook his placed his account in 30-day "Facebook Jail" because he complained of racism on his page and refused to lift the jail sentence even when King informed Facebook that his mother had passed from this Earth so he was not free to discuss this with his then 2,100 friends.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a very simple case. Respondent Facebook continually bans black users for discussing racial matters as noted in the U.S.A. Today and elsewhere. Their own VP of Diversity Mark Luckie said racism is alive and well in the company and on the platform. This is a Party Admission because he was still employed by Defendant when he publicly wrote it. (CP 20, 184-189).

Facebook banned King for self-referring as a nigger after the white Snohomish County Sheriff ignored his video in which an abusive white male dropped 5 F-Bombs in Petitioner's face after refusing to provide him with the medical and housing records FOR HIS OWN DOGS. (CP 6-9).

Whereupon litigation ensued, with King tendering several Discovery Demands.

Respondent moved moved to dismiss the case on the Merits with a Dispositive Motion and on Forum Selection. In so doing, it sought a Protective Order. 1

King contested the Protective Order and filed a Motion to Compel after a Rule 26 conference at which Counsel for Respondent assured Plaintiff that his client would not provide any Discovery.

_

¹ The Court did not address the merits whatsoever other than to note that it is a compelling issue for review in the Next Court. We are in the 9th Circuit Court of Appeal at present as Facebook was denied summary affirmance in a case on Appeal on First Amendment grounds: *Freedom Watch & Loomer v. Google et al* U.S. Ct. App DC No. 19-730 (August 20, 2019). Plaintiff has briefed that matter with the Court with an eye toward *NAACP v. Thompson*, 648 F.Supp. 195 D.Md.,(1986), *Pruneyard v. Robbins*, 447 U.S. 74 (1980). *Moose Lodge No. 107 v. Irvis*, 407 U.S. 163 (1972).

Plaintiff mistakenly filed his Motion approximately two (2) days early. This fact is determined by the filings set forth by Defendant rather than the Court itself, as the Court only stated "there was no event." (CP 240-241).

Facebook pointed out that it has had the Discovery Requests for quite some time:

There were originally unsigned when they were sent the first time, then when sent the second time, Plaintiff made the mistake of filing two days early, but after Counsel for Facebook resolutely stated during a Motion Conference that he was not going to produce any Discovery Responses whatsoever.

The Court sanctioned King for lodestar Attorney Fees from which Petitioner Appeals. Plaintiff issued a Memorandum in Opposition to imposition of fees on or about 8 February 2019. The Court did not recognize the Memorandum and issued an Order on 25 February 2019 Assigning Attorney Fees in the amount of \$2,482.00 and costs of \$22.49. (CP 314-316, Recon Den. 274-276).

While it is difficult to directly assess its net worth, it has a market cap of anywhere between \$359.3B-\$527.2B. Plaintiff King's Attached Declaration swears that his net worth is approximately \$25,000.00 - \$30,000.00 at present. Therefore King's financial portfolio using a Market Cap Figure of \$400,000,000,000 is approximately \$.00000000000025% of Defendant's.

Against that backdrop the Court has decided to impose a sanction of full attorney fees when King filed a Motion to Compel after Defendant made its Good Faith Rule 26 Statement that it was not going to Provide any substantive Discovery Documents.

King timely appealed to Division One Court of Appeals. The Court denied relief on April 27, 2020 in an unpublished Opinion. King timely filed a Motion for Rule 59 Reconsideration addressing the Court's concerns but the Court denied same without any comment or substantive review on May 29, 2020 (App. A).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

As noted above, Facebook is one of the most abusive and threatening corporate regimes the World has ever seen, and its Counsel does not arrive at this Court with Clean Hands, a fact that was completely ignored by all lower Courts. A case like this most certainly doest not occur in a vacuum – it occurs in a much larger and very imminent and pressing social culture and this Honorable Court must consider that, as well as the more relevant case law cited by King that the Court of Appeals did not address.

- F. ARGUMENT
- i. Assignments of Error
- I. <u>Persuasive Law from Other Jurisdictions is More Relevant than</u> Facebook's Legal Citations.
- II. The Doctrine of Equity Requires Clean Hands.
- III. Oral Argument was Wrongfully Denied.
- IV. The Discovery sanctions were not balanced against the nature of the discovery violation and the surrounding circumstances.

I. <u>Persuasive Law from Other Jurisdictions is More Relevant than Facebook's Legal Citations.</u>

NOW COMES PETITIONER as he would have done at the Oral Argument he was Promised in Division One -- but denied over objection -- to provide the Court and Respondent with this Motion to elucidate the reasons why the Trial Court Sanction was an inappropriate abuse of discretion.

First of all it is common knowledge that Courts routinely cite to cases outside of their own Jurisdiction as persuasive law. As such, the Division One Court's perfunctory dismissal of Petitioner's cited cases was and is, inappropriate.

Factual similarity is key to choosing among persuasive decisions; if the legal issues are the same, the decision based on the most closely matching factual situations will usually be the stronger persuasive authority. Other factors affecting the degree of persuasiveness of a decision include whether the opinion was particularly well reasoned, the stature of the jurist who authored the opinion, and the level of the court from which the decision came.²

With such in mind Petitioner King revisits his Decisional arguments as the Court is certain free to consider Persuasive Federal Law instead of dismissing it out of hand. This is particularly true when the cases presented by King much more clearly address the specific issues at hand as opposed to the general cases that Respondent Facebook presented.

First of all, the filing of a dispositive motion does not automatically constitute good cause for a stay of discovery. See, e.g., *United Rentals, Inc. v. Chamberlain*, 3:12-CV-1466 CSH, 2013 WL 6230094, at *3 (D. Conn. Dec. 2, 2013); *Hollins v. U.S. Tennis Ass'n*, 469 F. Supp. 2d 67, 78 (E.D.N.Y. 2006). Certainly then, the anticipation of filing a motion to dismiss does not warrant staying the conference and planning required to initiate the discovery process. Accord *Wiremold v. Thomas & Betts*, 3:16-CV-02133 (D. Conn)

As such, we know that the filing of a dispositive motion does not automatically constitute good cause for a stay of discovery. No other case law to the contrary exists in this case. Nonetheless the Court assailed Petitioner's position thusly:

King argues first that "volumes of [d]ecisional case law do not support an assessment or award of attorney fees or costs" here. He cites no Washington authority to support that proposition.²

² Instead, King cites two federal cases where the court denied a motion to compel but did not issue sanctions. He also cites a number of federal cases to support the proposition that the filing of a dispositive motion does not automatically constitute good cause for a stay of discovery.

He does not elaborate further on this argument. Nor does he assign error to the trial court's order granting Facebook's motion for a protective order and staying discovery during the pendency of its motion to dismiss. We do not review a claimed error unless the appellant assigns error to it. RAP 10.3(a)(4).

_

² MANDATORY V. PERSUASIVE CASES, winter 2001 by Barbara Bintliff, Director of the Law Library and Associate Professor of Law at the University of Colorado in Boulder. She is also a member of the Perspectives Editorial Board.

Accordingly, we do not address King's argument regarding the trial court's decision to stay discovery.

First of all there were not two but actually three Federal Cases: *Cipriani v. Buffardi* & Schenectady County NDNY 9:06-CV-0889 (2008), *Thomas v. Evans*, ND California Case No. C 06-3581 (2008), *Benavidez v. Sandia National Labs*, Dist New Mexico No. CIV-15-0922 (2017).

Second, Petitioner did not hammer the issue that Dispositive Motions do not guarantee a Stay on Discovery because he does not need to do so in order to prevail in this Court. King's point is simply to state the obvious because Counsel for Defendant implied that his client was automatically entitled to a Stay. If that were indeed the Law then there is a better argument for assessment of Attorney Fees or Costs, or even for a finding of "frivolous motion practice" (as falsely claimed) But of course that is not the only legal or factual material falsity set forth by Defendant and Counsel as noted in Section II, *infra*.³ A review of Petitioner's arguments is called for at this point:

Furthermore, Plaintiff informs the Court that volumes of Decisional case law do not support an assessment or award of attorney fees or costs. For example, See *Cipriani v. Buffardi & Schenectady County* NDNY 9:06-CV-0889 (2008).

Plaintiff's motion to compel also seeks a response to discovery from defendant Sheriff Buffardi. Dkt. No. 79. However, at the time the motion to compel was filed, this defendant had not been served with process. Accordingly, plaintiff's motion to compel discovery from Sheriff Buffardi is denied as premature.

6

³ We all know that "frivolous" is a precise legal term with a precise legal meaning. Petitioner's point here is that his conduct was so far removed from any such notion that it was an abuse of discretion for the Lower Court to award Fees and it is also materially unfair for this Court to look past the Defendant's Unclean Hands and relevant persuasive law from several Federal Jurisdictions.

Once again we have a premature Motion to Compel without sanctions even though the Sheriff had not even been served! In this case not only was there Service, Defendant in this case we recall had EXTRA TIME to consider its decision because Plaintiff did not sign his original Discovery requests, and there was a specific denial as to production coming from the Rule 26 Conference.

See also Thomas v. Evans, ND California Case No. C 06-3581 (2008) in which Plaintiff had a meet and confer in which it appeared that Defendant would actually issue some Discovery responses. Yet through some confusion Plaintiff moved to Compel. *The Motion was denied yet no Sanctions were issued.*

Again, another Federal Case that speaks for itself: In reality, a Plaintiff should only be sanctioned when an argument is taken in Bad Faith or with Vexatious purpose.⁴

Furthermore, in *Benavidez v. Sandia National Labs*, Dist New Mexico No. CIV-15- 0922 the Plaintiff failed to hold a proper Meet and Confer and filed a Motion to Compel prematurely yet the Court held "*The Court, however, will not impose a sanction on these particular facts.*"

Once again, another Federal Case directly on point supports Plaintiff's position. This is solid persuasive Law that the Court should not have dismissed. As such, this directly addresses the mistake made by Plaintiff when the Court writes:

He states that he would have been entitled to file the motion "a scant three (3) days later" when Facebook served its objections to his second set of discovery requests. But, he fails to demonstrate the necessity of filing the motion before any of Facebook's discovery responses were due. Under these circumstances, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that King's motion to compel was not substantially justified.

⁴ In point of fact, see Section II, infra, noting that it is Defendant and Counsel who come to the table with Unclean Hands.

II. The Doctrine of Equity Requires Clean Hands.

It is of course axiomatic that a person seeking Equitable Relief must come into the event with Clean Hands: "It is well settled that a party with unclean hands cannot recover in equity." *State of Washington v. Zellmer et al., Washington* Ct. App 79393-5-I (March 23, 2020)(unreported) citing *Burt v. Dept of Corr.*, 191 at 210 (emphasis added) (citing *Miller v. Paul M. Wolff Co.*, 178 Wn. App. 957, 965, 316 P.3d 1113 (2014)). But in this case we can look high and low yet never find any review of this issue in the Trial or Appellate Courts. On that basis alone Remand is warranted. Facebook and its Counsel do not have Clean Hands. In this case we recall that Defendant went so far on 2 May 2019 as to:

- a) Suggest that Petitioner's conduct in the Washington case was "frivolous," and
- b) Suggest that Petitioner would have to pay these Court Costs as a necessary prerequisite to filing the Federal Case now on Appeal in the 9th Circuit.⁵

Dear Mr. King,

It is premature at this time to engage in a Rule 26(f) conference, especially because you still have failed to pay the judgment entered by the King County Superior Court as a sanction for your *frivolous motion practice* in that case. You should pay the outstanding judgment in Washington before proceeding with a substantially similar case in California(emphasis added)

Moreover, Facebook intends to file a motion to dismiss that will be dispositive of the entire case and that can be decided without discovery. It would waste party resources to begin discovery before that motion is decided. If you insist once again upon taking premature discovery, Facebook will seek appropriate relief from the Court.

Clearly both of these assertions from Counsel for Facebook were and are, completely baseless and born from raw gamesmanship; specious *at best*. These statements were made without any Good Faith basis in law or fact and for the Court to now award that very Defendant with Attorney Fees over a filing made in Good Faith on Petitioner's part is indeed punitive and unwarranted.

⁵ This court noted that it was not particularly concerned about the Federal litigation and Petitioner mentions this only because the Court can take Judicial Notice that our Federal Government Officials continue to question Facebook's integrity at the Mother Ship. But in this case alone, irrespective of all of that, there is

enough to see here that the sanctions were not warranted and must be overturned.

Moreover, Counsel for Facebook failed to mitigate any purported harms: If it were absolutely **SO** clear that the Court would not for example, hold the commencement date in two days abeyance owing to the early filing, or that the Court would not consider Plaintiff's Settlement Conference Affidavit as conferring a Right to file a Motion, then all Defendant had to do was to write the Court and state:

King and Facebook engaged in the required Discovery Conference. Defendant maintains its position that we are not providing Discovery. Plaintiff's Motion to Compel is two days early and as such there is no need for us to respond substantively. Should the Court find otherwise we will respond in full to the pending Motion."

There. Simple right? Right. That took all of 90 seconds to type. But that's not what Defendant did. Defendant ran up a tab for \$2,500.00 and then also lied about Plaintiff allegedly engaging in "frivolous" motion practice and lied about the purported necessity to pay this tab prior to prosecution of the Federal case. Yet and still this Court has to this point actually rewarded such misconduct.

When the trial court awards attorney fees as a sanction, it must limit those fees to the amounts reasonably expended in responding to the improper pleadings.80 Furthermore, "[a] party resisting a motion that violates CR 11 has a duty to mitigate and may not recover excessive expenditures."81 Citing *MacDonald v. Korum Ford*, 80 Wash. App. 877, 891, 912 P.2d 1052 (1996) and *Miller v. Badgley*, 51 Wash. App. 285, 303, 753 P.2d 530 (1988). When Counsel Screws Up: The Imposition and Calculation of Attorney Fees as Sanctions, Seattle University Law Review Vol. 33/2. Philip Talmadge† Emmelyn Hart-Biberfeld†† Peter Lohnes†††