FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/5/2020 2:49 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98699-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTOPHER KING, JD a/k/a KINGCAST,

Petitioner,

v.

FACEBOOK, INC.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BYRNES KELLER CROMWELL LLP Joshua B. Selig, WSBA #39628 1000 Second Avenue, 38th Floor Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 622-2000 jselig@byrneskeller.com

Attorneys for Respondent

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Plaintiff King Filed His Lawsuit and Immediately Blitzed</u> Facebook With Serial, Sweeping Discovery Requests.

On November 7, 2018, King filed his complaint asserting four causes of action against Facebook: (i) violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981; (ii) breach of common law contract; (iii) outrage; and (iv) promissory

estoppel. CP 3-16. The thrust of King's claims was that Facebook violated its Terms of Service by temporarily suspending his user privileges for 30 days. On November 13, 2018, King caused the complaint to be served on Facebook's registered agent in California. CP 75. Pursuant to RCW 4.28.180 and CR 12(a)(3), Facebook had 60 days from service to file a responsive pleading, *i.e.*, until January 14, 2019.

The service of King's complaint was accompanied by a set of unsigned discovery requests. CP 75. The requests consisted of nine interrogatories, nine document requests, and two requests for admissions. CP 80-88. Many of those requests went far beyond King's claims, instead attempting to delve into years' worth of data and personal information on countless other Facebook users. For example, King sought information about how many Facebook users had been suspended for the use of the n-word, "cracker," or "honky" since January 1, 2013. CP 81.

After acknowledging the requests were improper because they were unsigned, King subsequently served a revised first set of requests on December 14. CP 75-76 ¶¶ 2-3. The "revised first set" expanded to include 19 interrogatories, 19 document requests, and five requests for admissions. CP 90-112. In addition to aggregate data that would need to be culled from tens of millions of Facebook users, the interrogatories sought private information regarding specific users other than King. *See*,

e.g., CP 92-93 (Interrogatories 9-13). Facebook's responses to that set of requests were due on January 14, 2019.

Meanwhile, on November 30, King propounded his second set of discovery requests on Facebook comprising of six additional interrogatories and two additional requests for production. Facebook's responses were due on January 2, 2019. CP 76 ¶¶ 4, 114-118.

On December 18, King served yet another set of discovery requests with two additional interrogatories and four additional requests for production. CP 76 ¶ 5, 120-23. Like its predecessors, these requests were disproportionately overbroad in seeking information relating to communications between Facebook and third parties unrelated to King. CP 122. Facebook's responses to that third set were due on January 18, 2019.

All told, prior to the deadline for Facebook to respond to the complaint, King had served three separate sets of discovery requests totaling 27 interrogatories, 25 document requests, and five requests for admissions, many of which were sweeping in their scope.

B. Facebook Notifies King That It Intends to Seek a Protective Order, but Rather Than Wait to Respond to That Motion, King Immediately Files a Motion to Compel.

Nearly a week before Facebook's first discovery responses were due (and three weeks before subsequent responses were due), King

demanded advanced notice on how Facebook intended to respond. CP 254 ("Does your client intend on providing any substantive answers to any of my pending discovery and if so, please state the extent of its anticipated responses. ... If I do not hear back from you by COB tomorrow, 28 December 2018 I will reasonably assume the answer is in the negative and I will proceed on that basis.").

King had no basis to insist that Facebook provide guidance on its responses before the 30-day deadline. Nonetheless, the following day, Facebook informed him that on January 2, 2019, when its first responses were due, Facebook would be responding by providing its objections to those requests along with a motion for a protective order. CP 256. Facebook followed shortly thereafter with a request to meet and confer regarding Facebook's anticipated protective order motion seeking to stay discovery until its planned motion to dismiss was adjudicated. CP 250, 258.

The parties met and conferred, and when King would not agree to stay discovery responses, Facebook confirmed that it would seek a protective order along with the service of its first discovery responses. CP 76 ¶ 7, 250. However, rather than wait to see the nature of Facebook's objections or the arguments made in Facebook's motion, on December 31, 2018, King took the preemptive step of filing his own motion to compel

responses to all of his then-issued (but not yet due) discovery requests.

See CP 27 (asking the trial court to "review [all] the attached Discovery Requests and COMPEL [Facebook] to respond to them in full").

In opposing King's motion to compel, Facebook noted that in addition to being a preemptive opposition to Facebook's motion for a protective order, the requested relief would strip Facebook of the protections afforded by CR 34(b)(3) and CR 33(a) in allowing a party to provide written responses, including objections, to document requests and interrogatories. CP 242-43. Facebook's opposition also argued that King's motion failed facially because it failed to offer any argument for why his sweeping requests were relevant to his claims, likely to lead to relevant information, or proportional to the needs of the case. CP 243. Finally, Facebook asked for an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to CR 37(a)(4). CP 243.

On January 2, 2019, Facebook filed its motion to dismiss, its motion for a protective order, and, as promised, timely served King with responses and objections to the discovery requests that were due on that day. *See* CP 64-74, 250, 262-270.

C. The Trial Court Denies King's Motion to Compel, Grants Facebook's Protective Order, and Finds That Facebook Is Entitled to an Award of Fees Pursuant to CR 37(a)(4).

On February 1, 2019, the trial court ruled on the two discovery motions. First, it granted Facebook's motion for a protective order upon concluding there would be no prejudice by a brief stay on discovery pending the court's ruling on the motion to dismiss. CP 280-282.

Second, the trial court denied King's motion to compel "conclud[ing] that the Plaintiff filed his motion to compel prematurely because the Defendant's responses to the Plaintiff's discovery requests were not due on December 31, 2018, when the Plaintiff filed his motion to compel." CP 278:1-4. The trial court added that it was "unable to find that the Plaintiff's motion was 'substantially justified or that other circumstances make an award of expenses unjust." CP 278:13-15.

Accordingly, the trial court awarded Facebook its reasonable fees and costs in responding to King's motion. CP 278:19-22.

Facebook subsequently moved for an award of reasonable attorneys' fees and the trial court awarded it \$2,504.49 in attorneys' fees and costs. CP 338-48, CP 314-17.

On February 15, 2019, the trial court granted Facebook's attorneys' fees request and then dismissed the litigation without prejudice. CP 314-317.

King did not appeal the dismissal of his suit or the trial court's order granting Facebook's motion for a protective order. He also did not appeal the trial court's order denying his motion to compel or the quantum of attorneys' fees awarded. Rather, King's appeal was limited to whether the trial court erred in awarding attorneys' fees to Facebook pursuant to CR 37(a)(4) as part of its order denying his motion to compel. *See* Op. at 1, 6 n.2 (Appx. A to Pet. for Review).

D. The Court of Appeals Affirms the Trial Court's Decision.

On April 27, 2020, the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion affirming the trial court's assessment of attorneys' fees. *See* Appx. A to Pet. for Review. After meticulously recounting how the discovery dispute unfolded (Op. at 1-5), the Court correctly applied the governing law. First, it properly recognized that "[u]nder CR 37(a)(4), a trial court shall award attorney fees to a party who successfully opposes a motion to compel, unless the motion was substantially justified or other circumstances make an award of expenses unjust." Op. at 5. Under CR 37(a)(4), a trial court has broad discretion to award fees, and an appellate court does "not disturb an award of attorney fees except upon a clear showing that the court abused its discretion." *Id.* at 5-6 (citing *Dalsing v. Pierce County*, 190 Wn. App. 251, 267, 357 P.3d 80 (2015)). It then applied that test to conclude that "[u]nder these circumstances, the trial

court did not abuse its discretion in determining that King's motion to compel was not substantially justified." *Id.* at 7, 8.

III. ARGUMENT

The Petition for Review falls well short of meeting any of the required standards for this Court to accept review.

A. The Court of Appeals Plainly Followed Governing Law: There Is No Conflict With a Decision of This Court or With a Published Decision of the Court of Appeals.

A Petition for Review may be accepted if the at-issue Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a decision of this Court or with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). The Petition points to no such conflict and none exists here.

Instead, the best King can muster is an argument that the trial court's decision conflicts with three unpublished federal district court decisions. Setting aside the fact that King's argument provides no basis for this Court's review, the argument widely misses its mark. In the three unreported district court cases, the trial court denied a motion to compel but did not issue sanctions. That fact alone, however, does not create a conflict between the trial court decisions (and the Court of Appeals' affirmance) and the federal district court's decision. Rather, the award of attorneys' fees is an exercise of the trial court's discretion. Undoubtedly, one could find hundreds of decisions where the trial court awarded fees as

a part of order granting or denying a motion to compel and hundreds of decisions in which the court denied an award of fees. Those decisions do not give rise to a conflict, much less one that requires this Court's attention to resolve. Just as the Court of Appeals noted, King has failed to show any authority under Washington law that contradicts the trial court's order (or the Court of Appeals' decision). Op. at 6.

Instead, King continues to falsely assert that he "mistakenly filed his Motion approximately two (2) days early" and only "after Counsel for Facebook resolutely stated during a Motion Conference that he was not going to produce any Discovery Responses whatsoever[,]" to suggest that the trial court's award of fees was an abuse of discretion. Pet. at 3. However, as detailed above and as found by the Court of Appeals, "Facebook did not state that it would not be providing any discovery responses. Rather, ... counsel for Facebook told King that Facebook would be timely providing objections[.]" Op. at 6. Likewise, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that King moved to compel responses to all of his discovery requests "two days before Facebook's first discovery deadline and weeks before its remaining deadlines." *Id.* at 7.

The trial court acted within its broad discretion to find that King's motion was not substantially justified and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed that decision. A motion to compel filed before the answers are

due is not substantially justified because litigants have a right to use their 30 days to respond and object to the requests under the Civil Rules. CR 33(a), CR 34(b)(3). As one recent appellate decision explained, "[King's] right to obtain discovery was not more important than [Facebook's] right to object that he was exceeding its proper scope or that the intrusive nature of the discovery warranted protection under CR 26(c)." *Rhodes v. Barnett & Assoc.*, *P.S.*, No. 35920-4-III, 2020 WL 1814945, at *11 (Wn. Ct. App. Apr. 9, 2020) (unpublished). By the very nature of the premature motion, King unjustifiably attempted to strip Facebook of its rights under the Civil Rules, and also improperly asked the trial court to prejudge the reasonableness of the parties' positions, because it did not yet have Facebook's written position on King's vastly overbroad, burdensome, and largely irrelevant requests.

The Court of Appeals did not err in stating or applying the law, and in finding that the trial court's decision was not manifestly unreasonable.

There is no conflict between its decision and any decision of this Court or published decisions of the Court of Appeals.

B. There Is No Significant Question of Law Under the Washington Constitution or United States Constitution.

King's Petition for Review of an opinion affirming the award of attorneys' fees pursuant to CR 37(a)(4) does not raise a significant

question of law under either the Washington Constitution or United States Constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3) does not apply.

C. <u>An Attorneys' Fees Award Under CR 37(a)(4) Is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.</u>

Much of the Petition is spent railing against Facebook. *See*, *e.g.*, Pet. at 1 (Facebook is "so toxic to the World [sic] ... is 'a threat to our Democracy."); *id.* at 4 ("Facebook is one of the most abusive and threatening corporate regimes the World [sic] has ever seen[.]"). None of the bombast has any relevance to the single issue raised in King's appeal. This is an appeal of a trial court's award of attorneys' fees pursuant to CR 37(a)(4), nothing more.² Regardless of how King feels about Facebook's policies, a trial court's award of \$2,504.49 in attorneys' fees for an unjustified motion to compel does not give rise to an "issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

_

² King did not appeal the trial court's orders: (i) dismissing his lawsuit without prejudice; (ii) granting Facebook's motion for a protective order; or (iii) establishing the quantum of attorneys' fees awarded. Nor did he argue or present any evidence to the trial court regarding his inability to pay the fees. The Court of Appeals did not err in declining to consider that argument. Op. at 8 (citing RAP 2.5(a)). Regardless, when a *pro se* plaintiff with a law degree and an intimate familiarity with civil procedure and trial practice causes an adverse party (and the court) to engage in unnecessary and cumulative motion practice, it is entirely reasonable and justified for the court to find that the plaintiff should be responsible for the additional legal expense he causes his adversary to incur.

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all the foregoing reasons, King's Petition for Review should be denied.

DATED this 5th day of August, 2020.

BYRNES KELLER CROMWELL LLP

By /s/ Joshua B. Selig

Joshua B. Selig, WSBA #39628

Attorneys for Respondent Facebook, Inc.